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CRIBB, MR PHILLIP,
District Manager,
Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

MACKAY, MR KENNETH HUGH,
Firefighter/Acting Manager, Communications Centre,
Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

DEVINE, MR NICK,
Firefighter/Director of Operations,
Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

DALY, DR FRANK FREDERICK STEWART,
Physician, Department of Emergency Medicine,
Royal Perth Hospital,
examined:

FORBES, MR BILL,
Executive Director Fire Services,
Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

TRUSWELL, MR JOHN PATRICK,
Water Resources and Special Risk,
Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

STEVENS, MR RUSSELL JOHN,
District Manager, Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
480 Hay Street,
Perth, examined:

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Cribb, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Cribb:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  In what capacity do you appear before the committee?
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Mr Cribb:  I am the manager of the fire and investigation branch of the Fire and Emergency
Services Authority.  My role in the Bellevue incident was not only to investigate origin and cause
but also I was part of the operation analysis group.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Mackay, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Mackay:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  In what capacity do you appear before the committee?

Mr Mackay:  I was on duty on the night of the Bellevue fire.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Devine, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Devine:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  In what capacity do you appear before the committee?

Mr Devine:  I am the director of operations for the fire services division of the Fire and Emergency
Services Authority responsible for the fire and rescue service and for the ongoing management of
the bushfire services in Western Australia, in consultation with local government authorities.

The CHAIRMAN:  Dr Daly, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Dr Daly:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  In what capacity do you appear before the committee?

Dr Daly:  I am a clinical toxicologist, and I was brought in by FESA to help manage the medical
response to the incident.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Forbes, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Forbes:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Truswell, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Truswell:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Stevens, have you completed the “Details of Witness” form and do you
understand the notes attached to it?  Have you received and read an “Information for Witnesses”
briefing sheet and guidance note regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees, and
do you understand all aspects of that information?

Mr Stevens:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  This is a continuation of our hearing on Friday.  Thank you for coming back
and bringing all the technical advice and knowledge that you need to be able to assist us in our
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inquiry.  I understand that placed a demand on your agency, and we thank you.  Did you want to
pick up where we were on Friday?

Mr Stevens:  It might be appropriate to give the executive director the opportunity to give us an
overview of the situation.

Mr Forbes:  Thank you; I appreciate the opportunity.  We felt that it might be helpful to bring with
us today Dr Frank Daly, who played an instrumental role in the recovery operations on behalf of
FESA, career members and volunteers, and obviously the remaining members who are in uniform.
I will take a couple of moments to set the background as the executive director of fire services.  The
hazardous waste facility fire was one of the largest hazardous material fires experienced by the
emergency services of this State, perhaps ever.  Operations during the emergency taxed both human
and physical resources to an extraordinary degree.  The immediate fire suppression activities alone
lasted several hours until the early morning of 16 February, and it was in that context that
operations on 15 and 16 February were conducted.  FESA’s actions subsequent to the fire were as
follows: immediately following the incident, FESA commenced internally to review all aspects of
the organisation’s involvement, including prevention activities, the preparation by operational staff
to deal with the incident at such a site, and the response by FESA personnel and other support
agencies; and, finally, recovery activities during the fire and immediately following the fire.  Our
post incident analysis process is the normal course of review for all significant incidents.  Incidents
of that magnitude normally involve a number of other state government and non-government
agencies, and they are invited to participate in any PIA process that we conduct.  The PIA process
critically analyses all aspects of FESA’s activities to understand what occurred at the incident and
what strategy can be utilised to improve our actions for the future were a similar incident to repeat
itself.  In the case of the Bellevue incident, two officers were assigned the task of gathering that
relevant information and reporting on the outcomes.  The report has been previously provided to the
committee.  One of those officers is present - district officer Phil Cribb.

The CHAIRMAN:  Is that the original post-incident assessment report prepared for FESA?

Mr Forbes:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  It has been suggested to us that there have been two reports.

Mr Forbes:  I understood that to be the case.  Obviously someone was present from FESA on
Friday.  I was not able to make it.  There are not two reports.  Let me make that quite clear.  There
was an extensive requirement to gather a lot of information, and obviously I think there has been a
mistaken perception that the information that was gathered as part of that extensive information
gathering process came to be written up as a report.  It was not.  There was one post-incident
analysis report.  There is nothing internal or closeted away; and that is the truth.

Mr DAY:  What was suggested was that a report was done and it was changed; but from what you
are saying, that was clearly not the case?

Mr Forbes:  That is correct.  That was not the case.

Mr MASTERS:  We were told that the original report had 105 recommendations and is still going.
Those are the approximate words that were quoted to us by one of the members of the public.  Was
there a draft report with a certain number of recommendations and then a final report that came out
of that draft report?

Mr Forbes:  I wrote a draft report, from which a final report was drawn.  I believe a number of the
people who were interviewed offered their views on what could solve whatever problem they were
talking about.  There might well have been 105 recommendations - there might have been 205 - but
those were considered as part of the writing team’s consideration.  The final report produced a
number of recommendations, and it is those that our director of operations and the organisation
itself are now addressing.
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Mr Cribb:  Could I answer that?  In the early portion, an information-gathering exercise took place
that interviewed some 300 operational people.  Those recommendations were brought back weekly
and white-boarded.  A number of the recommendations double up, and we reviewed those and
grouped them into bigger chunks, and they are reflected in tactical and strategic issues in the report.
They doubled up.  We might have had one related to incident control systems, and something to do
with logistics or planning, and we grouped those together.

Mr DAY:  Have we been given a copy of that report?

Mr Cribb:  Yes.

Mr Forbes:  There were serious health concerns that we became aware of, and various members’
perceptions that they might have been exposed to a range of contaminants.  What we did then was
establish a process to deal with that issue, and we employed an eminent specialist toxicologist, Dr
Frank Daly, who is the director of the Royal Perth Hospital toxicology poison centre.  He was
employed to speak to all participants, both FESA-paid employees and volunteer firefighters who
attended the incident, other members of volunteer emergency service organisations, contractors, and
anyone else whom we could gather together, and brief them on all known matters to do with health
that we believed might be useful for them to know.

Mr Forbes:  In addition, FESA established an extensive screening test and interview process for all
people who attended the incident.  Employees attending the incident numbered some 291,
comprising 252 firefighters, 19 management staff, and 20 staff from the O’Connor workshops.
Volunteers attending the incident numbered 56: nine Fire and Rescue Service volunteers, 18
members of the State Emergency Service, and 29 bush fire brigade volunteers.  A number of FESA
career and volunteer firefighters - both bush firefighters and Fire and Rescue Service firefighters -
were interviewed and tested for exposure.  Some tests proved positive, but these abnormalities were
found to be unrelated to the incident.  I am sure that Dr Daly will address that later.  Monitoring is
continuing of all our people, particularly of any who indicated a positive blood test result.

The CHAIRMAN:  Is that an open registration process, for all involved, so there is no close-off
date for people to register?

Mr Forbes:  It is quite open, and has been running since February.  A decision to invoke the State’s
emergency management arrangements was taken on 19 February, and on 20 February, the state
operations coordination group was activated.  It consisted of a variety of government and non-
government representatives, all of whom have been listed in our submission.  The aim was to ensure
that, during the recovery phase of the incident, everything was coordinated and dealt with in a
holistic fashion.  FESA then outlined the actions that was being taken internally, with regard to the
health of the people who had participated, both staff and volunteers, and it was agreed that the
Health Department would deal with community health, that public inquiries would be referred to
DEP, and that issues relating to occupation work would be referred to WorkSafe.

The CHAIRMAN:  How many people have been tested so far?

Mr Forbes:  One hundred and fifteen patients attended the Prime Health Pty Ltd clinic.  Twenty of
them did not report any symptoms.  The most common investigations carried out were liver
function, on 83 patients, or 72 per cent; and blood levels, on 54 patients, or 47 per cent.  Of the 115
patients -

The CHAIRMAN:  Is that 115 out of the total of 350, who were in and around the incident?

Mr Forbes:  Yes, they were people who were in the vicinity at any point of time on 15 or 16
February, or even on Saturday, 17 February.

The CHAIRMAN:  When did that testing of the 115 occur?

Mr Forbes:  Over the period of the next month or so.  It commenced initially with the briefing I
referred to previously, and then we encouraged all members to voluntarily fill in a form stating
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where they thought they were during the incident, and offered the opportunity to participate in it if
they felt uneasy.  The figure of 115 was the number of people who indicated that they would like to
go through some sort of testing process.

The CHAIRMAN:  I want to refer back to an earlier discussion.  What role did Mr Trevor Wigg
play in preparing the incident report?

Mr Forbes:  He worked with district officer Phillip Cribb, and they were two members of the
writing team of the post-incident analysis report.

The CHAIRMAN:  If I can just return to that report for a moment.  Mr Cribb, it has been put to the
committee that it was in fact Mr Wigg who attended the post-incident briefing and made more than
100 recommendations.  I accept the point you made, that this was not the final report, but it must
have been part of the thinking that led up to the writing of that final report, and it was suggested that
Mr Wigg indicated there were 104 recommendations for action to avoid a recurrence of the
experience.  Can you tell the committee about Mr Wigg’s role, and your relationship with him?

Mr Cribb:  District manager Wigg was part of the operational analysis group.  Included in that
group was another member, Mr Alan Aitken, who was included for his writing skills and his ability
to produce the document.  Mr Wigg and I conducted the information gathering exercise, which was
about identifying, through our records, who had attended the incident, establishing where they were,
and we then conducted a series of interviews with those people.  As I have stated previously, we
came back from those interviews and white-boarded the critical issues that people saw.  I am not
sure whether the 104 recommendations to which the Chairman referred originated at the post-
incident analysis attended by Mr Wigg.

Mr DAY:  That was the PIA that was held in the Darlington volunteer fire brigade building.

Mr Cribb:  That was fairly late in our information gathering exercise.

The CHAIRMAN:  Was it April?

Mr Cribb:  I am not sure of the exact date.  We could find that out if the committee needs it.  We
then came back and worked those recommendations, or critical issues.  I think that, at that stage it
would be unfair to call them recommendations; they were identified as critical issues.  They were
grouped as we saw to make sure that they fitted in.  We wanted to make sure that the end report
reflected the issues that were identified by the crews.  We had a clear instruction from senior
management to produce, within the terms of reference, a “warts and all” report to make sure that
any repeat of what happened at Bellevue would be catered for in the recommendations.

Mr DAY:  Was the information gathered at the Darlington PIA incorporated in the final report?

Mr Cribb:  It is my view that any critical issues that were raised by the Darlington volunteer fire
service would have been incorporated.

Mr DAY:  Or any issues raised by other brigades meeting at Darlington?

Mr Cribb:  Yes. They would have been incorporated into the strategic and the tactical
recommendations of the report.

Mr DAY:  It was claimed to the committee that Trevor Wigg did a report which was shelved, and
another one was done.  Are you denying that that is the case?

Mr Cribb:  I am saying that it was an information gathering exercise.  I have had it put to me that
the report has had a number of changes.  I think we got to about five or six drafts in all.  Mr Wigg
would probably correct me on that.  From one draft to the next, typographical errors would be
addressed, a table or map would be included.  The aim was not to produce a sterilised report; it was
to make the report readable and accurate.

Mr MASTERS:  Mr Chairman, I have gone through this report and counted 101 recommendations.
I may have missed two or three.  If, as has been suggested, this is a sanitised version of the original
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report, which had 105 recommendations, I am happy to accept that it is not a particularly sanitised
version -

The CHAIRMAN:  Is it slightly diluted, perhaps?

Mr MASTERS:  I am not sure whether it has been diluted.  I just wanted to raise the fact that the
report still contains over 100 recommendations.

The CHAIRMAN:  We will return shortly to the very helpful narrative being pursued by Mr
Forbes.  I have some difficulty, Mr Cribb, when you say it was a “warts and all” report, when other
submissions to the committee state that the very first call to Comcen -

Mr MASTERS:  Are we talking here about the hazardous nature of the materials in the fire?

The CHAIRMAN:  That is correct.  At 2300 hours, an unidentified caller stated that a chemical
fire was burning, and when asked what type of chemicals and how many chemicals were involved,
said words to the effect that it was “a lot”.  No other details were recorded.  The committee is
having some difficulty trying to understand the communication of information about the nature of
the fire and the materials that were burning, and how that was incorporated into the knowledge and
thinking around the management of the incident.  Even though you say that the list on page 8 of the
PIA is a sample, is it true that the very first caller indicated that there were chemicals, while none of
your samples indicate this, except for one which states that there is a chemical recycling plant
there?

Mr Cribb:  Following the representation to the committee on Friday, the director of operations
asked me to go back and review the calls to make sure that the sample was correct.  I produced a
report for him this morning, and I suggest that he may be able to clarify those issues.

Mr Devine:  The word “sample” in the analysis document relates to an abbreviated sample, because
it would be too extensive to include them all, but they are representative of the calls.  The actual
calls related to anything from a call to a fire in Wells Street, which might be a tree or a cement
works, then another call relating to a factory fire at the back of Wells Street, then a call to a
chemical fire in Irwin Street, then a call to a fire at a concrete batching plant, travelling on Roe
Highway, then a further call from the police to some type of toxic place, then a fire on Clayton
Street, a fire at the corner of Military Road and Clayton Street, and an explosion in the Bellevue
area.  They are all separate calls.  The difficulty on the night, to those immediately responding to
the incident, is that it would be next to impossible for somebody to make a determination to pick
out of that selection, at that immediate response time, exactly what the call was.

The CHAIRMAN:  I accept that, when there is a flood of call coming in like that, it is very hard to
extract the precise piece of information to respond to, but can you confirm what the very first call
said?

Mr Devine:  Two calls came in simultaneously on 000, at 2259 hours.  The first one was a call to a
fire in Wells Street, maybe a tree, or the cement works.  The other call was a factory fire behind
Wells Street.  The third call, at 2300 hours precisely, was to a major chemical fire in Irwin Street.

The CHAIRMAN:  That clears it up significantly for me.  I understand the nature of the incoming
calls, and the process of sifting out the correct bit of information may not be immediate, and takes
some reflection and analysis to identify precisely the information you have and how to respond to it.
Can you tell me when that sifting and analysis was done, so that it might have been used to inform
the on-site people that they were dealing with a chemical fire?

Mr Devine:  The incident was fought, in the first instance and for some considerable time, as a
property fire, or a structural fire in a factory.  It was generally accepted that it was a class-3
flammable liquids fire.

The CHAIRMAN:  What does that mean?
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Mr Devine:  That means that the fire is fought in a very similar manner to an ordinary factory or
structural fire.  With regard to chemical being involved, the premises were licensed to carry 11
substances all of which were of a flammable liquid nature.  I believe the license was to a maximum
of 398 tonnes, but it was related to flammable liquids.  The initial attack on the fire, and the ongoing
attack for some time, was in the manner of a class-3 flammable liquids fire.

The CHAIRMAN:  Was that appropriate, in your view?

Mr Devine:  It was.

Mr MASTERS:  Do you have a classification in your manual, or other document, of a chemical
fire, or do you not use that term?

Mr Devine:  It may well surprise members of the committee - because I can assure you it certainly
surprised FESA - that within the fire services in FESA, there is not a Hazmat fire classification.  I
am sure it will also surprise committee members to know our investigations revealed that we do not
believe a Hazmat fire classification is available in Australia at this time.  The national standards
have been reviewed by the Australian Fire Authorities Council as a result of the Bellevue fire.  The
council considered how, on a national basis, we should deal with a Hazmat fire or a fire that has
Hazmat implications.  The biggest single difficulty that existed for us on the night and in the early
morning of the following day was that we were dealing with a fire.  Almost without exception - I
say “almost” simply because I have not been able to discover an incident similar to Bellevue - when
we deal with a chemical incident, we deal with an incident that involves a major spill.  In fact, it
may not even be a major spill.  It may be a small spill.  It may be pesticides that are located in a
small garden shed in somebody’s backyard.  We have seen evidence that, from an explosives point
of view, a small backyard shed full of pesticides or chemicals is very dangerous.  There are not
many examples of an ongoing, raging fire that involves all the hazards associated with a chemical
incident.

Mr MASTERS:  I am trying to make a subtle distinction here.  The term “chemical” or “chemical
fire” can mean different things to different people.  I have no doubt that some of the witness
statements or some of the submissions the committee has received have involved people who think
that a chemical fire, no matter what chemical is involved, automatically means that a hazardous or
toxic substance has been burnt.  It is important for the committee, and I guess for you as well, to
ensure that we define the burnt fuels precisely so that we know what is going on.  To me, a
chemical fire does not automatically mean a Hazmat fire.  I understand and accept what you said
about the fact that there is no Hazmat fire classification in place anywhere in Australia.  The
question I asked was whether there is a classification of “chemical fire” in your books.  I guess the
answer is no.

Mr Devine:  As we understand it.  I say “as we understand it” because I hesitate to categorically say
no.  Our investigations tell us that we do not.  The pivotal issue is that a range of protective,
firefighting and containment measures are put in place depending on the hazard being dealt with.
Those hazards vary significantly.

Mr MASTERS:  I guess what I am trying to work out in my own mind is that if FESA had
received half a dozen phone calls saying that there was a chemical fire at the site, I presume it
would have gone there and fought the fire in one particular way, whereas if FESA were told by
various means that it was actually a hazardous or toxic chemical site, it would do something
different.

Mr Devine:  We knew prior to the incident that the site was licensed, in the terms I have indicated,
as a flammable liquid storage area.

The CHAIRMAN:  Sorry, you knew prior to the incident?

Mr Devine:  It was a licensed premises.  To that extent, our pre-plan made us aware what it was
licensed for and what -
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The CHAIRMAN:  So, it was a dangerous goods site?

Mr Devine:  Well, it had particularly flammable, class 3 chemicals on-site.  There are different
ways to deal with a range of hazards.  Shortly after the incident commenced on the night in
question, the information relayed back to the fire service from the owner of the property through, as
I understand it, the DEP, was that we were dealing with a flammable liquids fire.  With the
committee’s indulgence -

The CHAIRMAN:  So, as you understand it, that information came from the owner through the
DEP?

Mr Devine:  Yes.

The CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Did you receive any advice from the units that were on-site about
whether they had gone to the red canister and pulled out the emergency management plan and the
manifest?

Mr DAY:  Just before Mr Stevens begins, was there something Mr Devine wanted to say?

Mr Devine:  I simply wanted to alert committee members to page 18 of the analysis document.  In
the first paragraph of section one, it specifically says that -

The main decision was to let the fire burn freely (the IMT was working on the information
that the product burning was thinners and white spirits) to consume the flammable liquids in
the drums.

IMT stands for incident management team.  From a firefighting perspective, we would deal with
thinners and white spirits in an entirely different manner than we might deal with a major chemical
incident, whether it is a fire, spill or whatever.  That was the intelligence at the scene, which
confirmed what we believed to be the case concerning the licence of the premises.

The CHAIRMAN:  This is on and around 1.39 am?  The only time that precedes it in your report is
1.39 am.  Would that be right?

Mr Devine:  I will have to clarify that.

The CHAIRMAN:  I am just looking back on page 16.

Mr Cribb:  I suggest that the information concerning the quantity or the type of flammable liquid
could probably be confirmed by some of my documentation, which includes the time Dr Claflin and
the DEP representative, Mr Hyde, arrived on-site.

Mr DAY:  Was the pre-plan followed?

Mr Stevens:  Picking up on Friday’s outstanding issues, we went back and have clarified the issues
about the contents of the canister.  The only thing in the canister was the Fire and Emergency
Services Authority pre-plan that was prepared on the premises by the staff at the Midland fire
station.  The container did not contain a manifest of chemicals supplied by the management of
Hazardous Waste Solutions.

The CHAIRMAN:  Can you tell me who or which agency went to the canister?

Mr Stevens:  The pre-plan was obtained by district manager Brooks.  We are not sure what time
that was done, but it was some time after 12.30 am.  We believe the reason that was not obtained
before then was that Midland station had completed the pre-plan and had a detailed knowledge of
the site was there.  The object of placing the pre-plan in a canister is so that when fire services are
mobilised, appliances could be called that are not located at Midland and would not be intimately
involved with this site.

The CHAIRMAN:  So, if you were a unit and you found yourself at a site, you could go to the
canister and familiarise yourself with the layout of the place and the management plan suggested by
those familiar with the place?
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Mr Stevens:  That is correct.  That is our assumption and that is the reason the pre-plan was not
obtained immediately, because it was thought that there were more high priority matters and that
they had a good working knowledge of the premises anyway.

Mr Devine:  The first people who arrived did.

Mr MASTERS:  Has the committee been given a copy of that pre-plan?

Mr Devine:  Yes, it is in the report.

Mr Cribb:  No, it is not in the report.  It was produced with the early documentation.

Mr DAY:  Was the pre-plan generally followed in the initial response?

Mr Stevens:  The pre-plan contained a site layout and gave some evidence of some of the known
hazards on the site.  That was pivotal in the establishment of the objectives and the fire management
directions taken on the evening - the first strike action - and that is the main objective and focus of
that pre-plan.

Mr MASTERS:  I will just go back to Mr Devine.  I am still trying to understand the thinking that
is affecting the committee as well as you.  You used the term “chemical incident” after reading out
that paragraph on page 18.  To me, thinners and white spirits are chemicals, but clearly, because of
the way you have been trained, you do not consider flammable liquids such as thinners and white
spirits to be chemicals in the same way that other materials are chemicals requiring different
treatment.

Mr Devine:  I have no difficulty with you considering them to be chemicals.

Mr MASTERS:  No, I am interested in what you consider them.

Mr Devine:  It is important that I backtrack slightly.  The difficulty for a fire service when
combating a hazard involving chemicals is that chemicals require different combative approaches.
Some chemicals, quite frankly, from a Fire and Emergency Services Authority perspective, offer
little problem for us or few dangers, while others, even in the smallest quantities, are very
dangerous.  Our approach, from an operational perspective, always relates to what is needed to
combat and confine an incident and to protect our people and the community.  The strategies we
will put in place will depend on the chemicals involved and can vary greatly.

Mr MASTERS:  Because of the information available to you - the fact that Mr Brooks was on-site
at the beginning of the incident, that later you had the pre-plan, and that Dr Claflin was giving
advice - there was a belief early on that no toxic or hazardous chemicals were involved and it was
just flammable liquids, so you fought the fire on that basis in the first hour or so?

Mr Devine:  Our understanding is that that is the case.

Mr MASTERS:  Right.  I am comfortable with that; I do not have a problem with that.

Mr DAY:  With hindsight and knowing what you do now, would you have done anything
differently at the time?

Mr Devine:  Yes.

Mr Stevens:  Yes.

Mr Truswell:  Yes.

Mr DAY:  What would you have done differently?

Mr Devine:  The major difference would have been that we would have instituted a change in
procedure for decontamination of our people.  That information did not come to light until some
hours later, when it was finally determined early the next morning what may have actually been in
there.  Thankfully, even during the course of the incident, the incident management team had
ordered sand, and we bunded off various areas.  I note your previous question about water run-off.
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The water run-off issue was also considered during the course of the fire.  That was one of the
reasons the flammable substance was allowed to continue to burn.  To put it out while it was at its
zenith would have required an amount of water that we would not have been able to control and
there certainly would have been run-off.  Environmental factors are considered even in the way we
fight fires, whether they involve just a flammable liquid or not.  If we had been aware or at
12 o’clock on that night about what might have been in there, the way we decontaminated our
people would have been different from the beginning.  Thankfully, the majority of our people used
sound safety practices with regard to breathing apparatus and many were careful about the way they
operated.  It has come to light, and it is evident within the document, that with the best efforts, some
of our people were potentially exposed.  We accept that.  That is clearly accepted in the document;
it is on the public record.  The efforts made by the fire service in consultation with Dr Daly to deal
with the medical issues were extreme to the extent that I think they will become a model or matrix
for the rest of the country on how to deal with it.

Mr MASTERS:  You said that some of your people were exposed.  What do you believe they were
exposed to?  Was it toxic or hazardous chemicals or just thinners, white spirits and other flammable
liquids?

Mr Devine:  What I said was that some of our people may have been exposed.

Mr MASTERS:  To?

Mr Devine:  To the smoke.  Both volunteer and career firefighters found themselves in smoke.
Some of those people did not have breathing apparatus.  We are not in a position to declare exactly
what the contents of the smoke were.

Mr MASTERS:  No.  I agree that that is another question.  What is the normal procedure for your
professional, full-time people when they have to fight a fire in smoke?  Is there a general rule, in a
situation such as this, that they do not go into the smoke, or that they go in with breathing apparatus
on?

Mr Devine:  I make this clarification: we consider all our people to be professional.  We classify
them as volunteer or career firefighters.  It is very important that that distinction is made.

Mr MASTERS:  I understand.

Mr Devine:  We work very hard to ensure that our people are both trained and safe in all areas of
operation.  In essence, if a firefighter is involved in a normal, everyday structural fire, the type of
smoke that he will deal with will be toxic and dangerous.  Whether they are the Fire and Rescue
Service, Bush Fire Service, career or volunteer officers, if our firefighters find themselves in a
bushfire environment, they may well have to deal with smoke.  While it does not taste all that good
and they work up wind and do their best to avoid it, they are occasionally exposed to that type of
smoke.  We found that at different times people were within the smoke plume, particularly later in
the incident.  We could give a range of reasons to say that it may or may not have been a toxic
plume.  We do not choose to say that.  We choose to deal with the worst-case scenario, and
implement best possible practice with regard to managing the medical aspects of it after the event.

Mr DAY:  You said that you would decontaminate differently.  With the benefit of hindsight, what
else would you have done differently in responding to the fire ?

Mr Devine:  We would not have done a lot differently in the firefighting operation.  The actual
firefighting would not have altered.  There were issues that related to the explosiveness of the event
which precluded a very close-up attack in the first stages.  I believe the initial decision that was
made to allow the flammable substances to burn off was a good one; and I still do.  The
environmental impact in the atmosphere was less than it would have been if we had attempted to
extinguish the fire.
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Mr DAY:  You would be aware of the issue about exposure that has been raised by members of the
Stoneville Bush Fire Brigade.  They have told the committee that if they had been aware that it was
a chemical fire - as they have termed it - when they were sent there, they would not have gone.
They did not find out about its nature until they saw it on television at six o’clock on the following
morning.  Is that something you can comment on?  Was there something that you could have done
better to advise the Stoneville volunteers before they went to the site what they were facing?  What
sort of response can you give to that?

Mr Devine:  In hindsight, we would not have responded them to the vicinity of the fire, particularly
with the further knowledge that it was a toxic incident or an incident that was significantly toxic.
The difficulty arose - for reasons that will be brought forward if you require them - when a second
call was initiated.  The second incident was effectively a bushfire.  We have zone 2 procedures in
place, which you might be aware of; they are in the document.  Perth is very fortunate to have a
very good interaction between structural and bush firefighters, particularly on the interface of the
boundaries.  Therefore, we utilise Bush Fire Service volunteers significantly both in and out of the
metropolitan area for bushfire purposes.  That works very well generally.  This was a significant
and unusual event.

The CHAIRMAN:  I still do not have set in my mind that transition from the view that this is a
building, factory or property fire and it will be fought in particular ways and the decision to let it
burn - at the top of page 18 - that was made as you were just about to hit the end of three hours of
fire.  At that stage, Dr Claflin and the Department of Environmental Protection people in that chain
had advised you that there were serious chemicals involved.

Mr Devine:  No; that is not correct.

The CHAIRMAN:  They still had not?  I thought you said earlier that, through Dr Claflin and the
DEP, you had been advised that chemicals of a serious nature were present on the site?

Mr Devine:  They confirmed that the storage of substances on the site was in accord with the
licence - effectively, it is a class-3 flammable liquid site.

The CHAIRMAN:  So you just relaxed?

Mr Devine:  We did not relax; it is difficult to relax.

Mr Stevens:  As a point of clarification, the information provided by Dr Claflin - and other
subsequent information - was that there were some more hazardous materials on the site, but they
were believed to be contained in areas that were protected by the fire attack.  That was part of the
deliberate strategy to protect those areas; namely, the house and the laboratory, and at the rear of the
house where it was believed there was some acid stored.  Those areas were protected from exposure
by the firefighting operations.  That was a deliberate strategy.

The CHAIRMAN:  And the wind direction at the time?

Mr Stevens:  The wind was blowing away from those assets.  There was a large degree of radiated
heat that would have endangered those facilities had we not put in place fire protection measures
against exposure.

The CHAIRMAN:  The information you had was that there was acid and mercury in or around the
house?

Mr Stevens:  The presence of mercury was never confirmed.  Dr Claflin never confirmed mercury,
but he did say there were acids.  Dr Claflin never mentioned insecticides.  He did mention acids,
and we had some concerns about underground storage tanks.  Again, that was part of the fire
protection measures to isolate those hazards from the radiated heat from the drum stack.

Mr DAY:  Were any other materials other than perchlorethylene and white spirits affected by the
fire, like acids, mercury or whatever?
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Mr Stevens:  No.  From our understanding, and from the investigation that we undertook in the
early hours of the morning when the fire had died down, we had been quite successful in protecting
those exposures.

The CHAIRMAN:  Did you know what chemicals were present other than the acids?

Mr Stevens:  We were advised that some acids, other class-3 products, paint and residue products
were stored in and around the house.

The CHAIRMAN:  I want to pursue Mr Day’s question.  How would you know what materials
were burnt in the fire?

Mr Stevens:  That is the $64 000 question.  We had no idea what was burnt.  We were relying on
the information we were given.

The CHAIRMAN:  You were relying on somebody else’s information, so it was second or third-
hand information by the time that you got it?

Mr Stevens:  In accordance with our normal procedure, we relied on the information provided by
Dr Claflin - who we took to be the owner of the premises - and we took that information on face
value.

The CHAIRMAN:  This is the manager of the site who still could not produce a manifest, even
though he is required under his licence agreement to keep one in the canister at the front gate?

Mr Truswell:  That is correct.

Mr Stevens:  Having said that, he was the manager, and I would think he would have had the best
intelligence available on the site working under a streetlight in Irwin Street.

Mr Cribb:  One of the points about the intelligence on the site came out in the operation analysis.
The operational pre-plan that was prepared by Fire and Emergency Services Authority and located
in the container at the front gate, where the manifest should have been, suggested that it was not a
full list, but was based on the best information that the crews could develop that there were
chemicals present of the likes of mercury, potassium - I am going from memory there - and phenol,
and they were located in the house.  Clearly the area that was burning was a drum stack.  The
intelligence we had was that it was 320 000 litres of thinners and white spirit.  The major exposure
was in a container at the laboratory, and also the house contained the heavier metal-type materials.

The CHAIRMAN:  Such as the nickel cadmium batteries?

Mr Stevens:  I was just going to make the point that the batteries were never mentioned.  We
discovered those in our investigation once the ferocity of the fire had died down.  We were
confronted with three pallettes of what were quite evidently wet cell batteries.

Mr MASTERS:  They had not burnt?

Mr Stevens:  The casing had burnt off.  I am no expert in battery design but the plastic casings had
burnt off and they were clearly identifiable as batteries.  I do not know where the lead component is
in a battery, or how it burns or if it burnt, but these batteries were adjacent to the drum stack and the
radiated heat had burnt off the plastic casing.

Mr MASTERS:  The metal inserts inside them appeared to be intact?  Mr Stevens:  They appeared
to be.  They were clearly identifiable as wet cell batteries.

Mr Devine:  It is important to note that regardless of whether we found one or 50 batteries intact or
otherwise, we are not in a position to make a determination or an assessment of what was or was not
there.  Hence the difficulty as time wore on and we were in the recovery stages, particularly when a
range of further intelligence came in the next day that related to what may or may not have been
there.
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The CHAIRMAN:  I caused this slight detour because the statement had been made that as the fire
died down an assessment was made that the identified dangerous or potentially toxic chemicals on
site had not been burnt.  I wanted to establish that you did not have the information to be able to
make that assertion.

Mr Devine:  There were many that had not burnt.

The CHAIRMAN:  We know that some were not burnt.  However, we do not know what was burnt
and you could not possibly be expected to know.

Mr Devine:  Fire Services do not come here today in any attempt to indicate that they did not burn
or that none of them burned.  We are not in a position to do that.

Mr DAY:  Would you normally expect there to be a manifest in the canister?

Mr Truswell:  It is required by law under the Dangerous Goods Regulations of this State.
Mr Malcolm Russell went through those earlier today.  The first indication of what chemicals were
on the site did not come to us until eight o’clock the next morning.

Mr DAY:  The fact that there was no manifest put you at a disadvantage.

Mr Stevens:  Yes, we were definitely on the back foot.  We were playing catch-up from the word
go.  When we go back to the discussions put on Friday, the change from the fire classification to the
Hazmat classification most probably came about with the light of day when more and more people
external to the incident provided intelligence on the hazards known or believed to be at the site.  It
was as a result of that and in combination with the reduction of the fire and the change in protective
clothing that the incident took on more of a Hazmat focus.

Mr DAY:  As far as the Stoneville volunteers’ issue of not being informed of the presence of
chemicals in the fire, do you believe they should have been given that information when they were
either on the way there or before they were sent?

Mr Stevens:  Clearly the statement that Stoneville should not have been there is most probably
appropriate.  The fact that a second incident was created and no connection was drawn between the
incidents for some time was a contributing factor.

The CHAIRMAN:  That was related to the fact that the caller said he was looking at the Bellevue
fire in one direction and the fire he was reporting was behind him.

Mr Devine:  There are some pertinent issues here.  First and foremost, one of the things that fell
down significantly within our planning and operational procedures on the night was the level of
weight that was placed on the incident management team.  At any time in future our process will be
that any brigade - in fact, any resource particularly any human resource - that attends an incident of
note or that requires major incident management should report to the incident management team.
The incident management team cannot manage those people or that resource if they are not aware
that they are potentially on the fire ground.  The issue relates to the way that Stoneville responded
to the second fire later in morning of 16 February.  I had cause, particularly after considering
Friday’s events, to have a look at this, as you would expect.  The call that responded the Stoneville
brigade came into our communications centre 67 minutes after the initial call was received at 23:59
hours on 15 February.  Sixty-seven minutes does not sound like a long time.

The CHAIRMAN:  If a week is a long time in politics, 67 minutes is a long time in a dangerous
incident.

Mr Devine:  Exactly.  In that 67 minutes the same communications centre responded to five fire
calls other than Bellevue; four of them were fires and one was an alarm call.  They generated a total
of 58 calls in the 67 minutes for five separate events.  When our communications operator spoke to
the caller, that responded the Stoneville brigade.  The response from the caller was that he was
standing on the porch of his house and he could see the Bellevue fire and the fire he was calling
about was behind him.  It could be concluded by some that that response was a mistake.  It has been



Economics and Industry          3rd Session Wednesday, 05 September 2001 Page 14

concluded by me, and fire services, that we need to have improved processes in the future to ensure
that, whether or not it is a separate fire - it was not in sufficient proximity of what was a major fire
to ensure that the incident management team of the major fire should was aware that that resource
was out there.

Mr DAY:  But on the night it was thought that they were two quite separate fires, and that is why
Stoneville was asked to respond in that way.  Is that correct?

Mr Devine:  That is correct.  They responded effectively to a separate incident.

The CHAIRMAN:  I would also like to add to Mr Day’s comments.  Is it also true that in the
context of an early February night with an easterly wind blowing that there is a high level of
apprehension about the likelihood outbreaks of brushfires.  Would that be true?

Mr Devine:  Yes.  And it also should be said that when the information about the second reported
fire was requested from the communications centre, it came up with an address in Hazelmere,
which has been a notorious area for large and extensive bush and grassland fires over a number of
years, and hence there is a requirement for an added response with regard to resources to meet that
bushfire hazard.

Mr Cribb:  I want to clarify one of the chief’s points.  The second incident was in the early hours
of the morning and that was responded to by some career people from Kensington.  That incident
was not at Bushmead and Military Road.  That crew came back to the base of the Waste Control fire
at the wood yard, and that extended out and the incident management team were unaware that they
had arrived there.  That incident went on for some considerable time.  At the time that the Stoneville
brigade were mobilised, there were four calls to the com centre, one from the district manager who
was managing sector three, which is reflected in the report, requesting them to attend to the bridge
in that area and they responded accordingly.  The first two groups that rang in from Stoneville were
given information and basically they were told that it was a factory fire.  So we had this problem
with the two jobs.  It was only the third time, when the fire control officer rang in, that we were told
that it was a factory fire that involved chemicals.  So it was quite clear that we were still managing
two separate jobs at that point at the same time - and that was some time later.

Mr DAY:  Were there any other voluntary brigades involved?

Mr Cribb:  Yes, there were.

Mr DAY:  Which ones were they?

Mr Cribb:  Throughout the course of the incident there was Darlington, Guildford, Kalamunda,
Mundaring -

Mr Stevens:  But there were a majority of career-based personnel.

Mr DAY:  Were the voluntary brigades all sent to what was thought to be the separate bushfire?

Mr Cribb:  Yes, under that zone 2 response.

Mr Stevens:  A recommendation from the Day report!

Mr DAY:  I will give you a briefing on that some time!

Mr MASTERS:  I want to move on to a completely different subject because I think we need to
make use of Dr Daly while he is here.  Dr Daly, were you going to make a presentation to us or are
you mainly here to respond to questions?

Dr Daly:  I can do either, it depends on the committee’s feeling.  I would be quite happy to tell you
our thinking on the incident and how our response evolved.  Bill Forbes is happy that a video
recording of a lecture that I gave to the firemen be submitted.  Almost everything that I can say now
is actually on the video.

Mr DAY:  Was that recorded at the meeting on 27 February?
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Dr Daly:  I did five of these lectures within eight days of the incident.

Mr Truswell:  It was Friday, 23 February that that video was made.

Dr Daly:  I am a clinical toxicologist and I work at Royal Perth Hospital.  My initial training was in
emergency medicine, and I am an emergency medicine specialist at Royal Perth Hospital but I am
also employed to spend half my time there with the toxicology patients.  In the hospital setting,
toxicology involves mostly looking after overdose patients.  However, in the wider setting outside
of the hospital, toxicology encompasses occupational, environmental and military exposures and the
health effects thereof.

This incident was quite within my area of interest.  A good three days before the FESA first spoke
to me, on the morning of the incident when I was on my way to work, I heard about the incident on
the radio and thought, “I’m going to be involved in this, I can tell.  It’s going to generate a lot of
angst and there will probably be some symptomatic people from it.”  From my knowledge of what
was there in the media, my anticipation was that we would have a large number of firemen with
sore eyes, coughs, colds, chest complaints, maybe some dizziness, nausea, headaches and things
like that.

The CHAIRMAN:  What would you identify those symptoms as being the result of?

Dr Daly:  They are the result of their exposure to the products of combustion of hydrocarbons
which are irritating to the mucosal membranes.  I thought, “They’re probably going to present to
hospital this morning and tomorrow, and if there are any really nasty things there - and I will talk
about that a little later - then we will probably see our severest illness over the weekend and by the
middle of the next week everything should have declared itself.”  I was then called by one of the
specialists from the emergency department at Swan District Hospital because he was at home and
had received a call already from his junior medical staff to say that four or five firemen had
presented to the Swan District Hospital that morning.  He relayed to me their symptoms, which
were as I anticipated, and wanted me to outline what I thought was appropriate management.  On
the Sunday afternoon I also received a call from a general practitioner in Scarborough who had a
fire fighter that presented to him because he still had some symptoms.  I was called by FESA on the
Monday afternoon and was invited to attend a meeting, which was detailed by Bill a few moments
ago, and make some suggestions about what sort of the medical response might be appropriate.  The
meeting continued for about 25 or 30 minutes and then I hijacked it for a little while.  I asked the
Chairman and the chief executive officer if I could show an overhead that I had just made that
morning.  It outlined, without any knowledge of what was on the site, what I thought would be the
appropriate specialist toxicology response to this kind of incident.

Mr DAY:  Do you have an ongoing advisory role to FESA?

Dr Daly:  No, I had no outline of my role at that point.  I was purely involved as a consultant on
that particular day.

Mr DAY:  Had you been involved with FESA previously?

Dr Daly:  No, not at all.

The CHAIRMAN:  And are you know?

Dr Daly:  On an ad hoc basis only.  I have no permanent contract of employment with them.

Mr Truswell:  If we hear of people getting poisoned with chemicals in the HEAT team, we advise
Dr Daly because he will normally be asked for advice by the medical officers dealing with the
patient.

Dr Daly:  Not only do I have a role at Royal Perth Hospital, but also I am one of two clinical
toxicologists in Western Australia and I help run the Western Australian Poisons Information
Centre, which is based at Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital.  I am one of seven medical consultants
who does consultation work for the national poison centre based in Sydney.  So, on a given day,



Economics and Industry          3rd Session Wednesday, 05 September 2001 Page 16

there is a fairly good likelihood that if there is a poisoning in Australasia, that it will filter up, or
down if you like, to me.  On one or two occasions since this incident, FESA has called me.
However, I am digressing.

I basically outlined that the likelihood of significant permanent health effects in my estimation was
probably going to be low because of the acute nature of the exposure, and by acute I mean over
minutes or hours rather than months or years.  The next point was that I thought that there was
likely to be an enormous amount psychiatric or psychological morbidity or illness associated with
the exposure because of the worry that is obviously inherent when people are exposed to things that
they do not know about or understand; the “what if” questions.

Mr DAY:  Would you normally expect that sort of response?

Dr Daly:  It is absolutely normal.  Just in the last 12 months there has been a fascinating article
published in the New England Journal of Medicine about mass hysteria at an American high school
in which 90 female teenagers all collapsed within minutes of hearing that there might have been a
toxin in the chemistry lab.  They were all shunted to hospital and they all obviously had symptoms
and were very concerned.  It turned out that only one or two had a real objective illness.  That
response is perfectly normal, and it is not in anyway meant to be patronising or a put down on the
professionals who are involved.  I made that point to the fire fighters themselves when I addressed
them in groups the following week.

Having stated those two points I said that it was probably going to be wise if we try to find out as
much as possible about the source, in other words, what was at the site.  I thought we should
anticipate a worse-case scenario in case there were any chemicals there that I would hate to see
involved and organise a program of documentation and follow-up so that if there were any residual
health effects - whether that be a month, a year, a decade or a generation away from this incident -
that someone may be trying to attribute to the incident, then at least we have good documentation
from the beginning about who was exposed and so forth and so on.  A program was then developed
very quickly whereby we decided to try to get all the fire fighters together on a few different
episodes in which I could address them.  You will see from the video if you watch the video that the
address was relatively casual, I did not use notes, and I addressed the firemen in groups of about
hundred and took questions, with each session lasting for about an hour.  I gave them a little bit of a
talk, somewhat like the one I am giving you now.  We then offered medical screening to people.
We took questionnaires.  Those who were symptomatic took questionnaires and those questionnaire
results were ferried to me.  I then stratified the guys according to what order I thought they should
be seen.  So people who had severe or persisting symptoms at the time we did the questionnaire
were asked to go down to their doctors first.  The asymptomatic, or what I call the worried-well,
were further down the list and so forth.  FESA made it very clear to me, and I thought that it was a
good idea, that even the asymptomatic would be offered both counselling, a medical examination
and some blood tests if they thought it was necessary for their own piece of mind.  Then we had the
talks in which I spoke to the firemen about what I had learned so far during that week about what
was at the site.

I think you have heard in other evidence that has been given that in the first few days after the
incident, we did not know a whole lot about what was their and we kept getting reports from the
EPS and other agencies about what might have been there.  There was conflicting data coming in
from activist groups, there were birds falling out of the sky in a neighbouring suburb and a lot of
hoo-ha in the media.  The fire fighters, being savvy people, went off to the Internet and the library
to find out what they possibly could about these chemicals.  When you do that kind of exercise it is
all very frightening.  Obviously they came to their sessions with a lot of questions and a lot of
concerns, which I tried to address.

One of the first things I said to them was, “You know, smoke is really dangerous.  When you look
at smoke from any fire, it is often that there is 200 or 300 chemical components.”  We have heard a
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lot about the semantics of chemicals and toxins and I will use the terms interchangeably.  I say that
because from a toxicological point of view - the medical study of toxins if you like - we regard
everything as toxic.  It was recognised in about 1450 by a physician, 500 or 600 years ago, that
everything is potentially toxic.  It is not the chemical structure that is important, it is the dose.
Therefore, my role as a toxicologist is often to try and estimate the dose from the exposure
information rather than sometimes try and work out biochemically the infinite patterns of the
interaction with the complex thing that is the biochemical human body.

The CHAIRMAN:  Would you do that just by looking through the list of the chemicals,
incomplete or otherwise?

Dr Daly:  Of course, we did that but I also had two lists.  I had the list that seemed to be from the
hearsay and appeared to be incomplete and also my own list of worse-case scenarios.  I might go
through that list if you like.

The CHAIRMAN:  What do you mean by “worse-case scenarios?”

Dr Daly:  What if cyanide had been there?  What if there had been many cubic metres of lead
there?  What about cadmium and phosgene?  Those kinds of questions.  I was also very concerned
that there may have mercury there.

The CHAIRMAN:  Were you able to extrapolate the list, whatever its validity and accuracy?
Were you able to determine, from the list of individual chemicals, an assessment of risk from the
cocktail effect of those chemicals in a fire?

Dr Daly:  To be honest, I am not even sure whether there is a cocktail.  These various hydrocarbons
and so forth, some of which are supposed to be non-flammable, but which still exist in an
environment of 500 to 1 000 degrees Celsius, will probably all be burned to very small reactive
chemicals.  Although they belong to many different chemical families, from a toxicological point of
view we recognise them as irritants, which means that when a person stands in their smoke, that
person will get burning eyes and a searing nose.

The CHAIRMAN:  They are not long-term carcinogens?

Dr Daly:  Carcinogenic substances could have been there, as we heard from hearsay; and
tetrachloroethylene - the perc - has been mooted to be a possible human carcinogen.  In the context
of a fire, with smoke, heat and a short-term exposure over minutes and hours, rather than over
months, years or decades, we would not see that as a carcinogenic risk.  I will elaborate further.
Since 1963 the World Health Organisation has run a subcommittee that has been endorsed with the
responsibility of collating the world’s medical and scientific data about carcinogenic substances.  It
systematically reviews the medical and scientific literature about all the chemicals that are used in
industry, agriculture, the military and so forth.  It might surprise the committee that after 30 or 40
years of endeavour, only 34 carcinogens have been classified by that subcommittee as certain
human carcinogens.

The CHAIRMAN:  I take your point; that is, the nature of the cocktail effect is hard to determine.
It has been submitted to us that at a meeting at which you and Mr Forbes briefed a number of FESA
personnel, your response to a question about whether there were lead batteries on the site and how
much was stored there was that there were about 13 tonnes on the site.

Dr Daly:  I am happy to address that.  The information that was given to me that day was that there
could have been between 10 and 30 cubic metres of lead batteries there, which might y have gone
up.  I have not visited the site, and it is not my job to make those estimations.  I said that that is
possible.  I answered the question further - I think it is on the video, if it is the same question - by
saying, “Let’s talk a little about acute lead exposure.”  My response was more that, following such a
fire, if a large amount of lead had gone up, it would form tiny dust particles and volatilise and then
deposit downwind.  My major concern if that had occurred was not for the acute health effects of
the people who were at the fire at the time, but for the chronic health effects of the people who
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would live with that residue in their houses, gardens and so forth for a long time to come.  That
represents a possible health risk to children especially.  That is how I answered the question.

Mr Forbes:  We were receiving a movable feast in what was or was not there.  Generally, the
practice was to double it and add 10 per cent.  Obviously, there were allegedly significant quantities
of X, Y and Z.  Consequently, we always tackle it on a worst-case scenario.  I recall the question
being raised.  The responses consisted of a number of people nodding their heads and a group of
100 suggesting that at some stage during the event they had seen a quantity of batteries and so on.
In response, Dr Daly addressed it in the fashion as just described.

Mr Stevens:  On a point of clarification, there were three pallets of batteries and we worked on
roughly one cubic metre of batteries per pallet.

Mr MASTERS:  We have received evidence from a former employee who said that there were no
lead acid batteries on the site and that there were three pallets of nickel-cadmium batteries, but they
were segregated to one side.

Mr Stevens:  The batteries I am talking about were up against the fence.

Mr MASTERS:  I am  not sure where they were, but her advice was that they were segregated;
there were three boxes of them, and each box occupied three-quarters of a pallet.

Mr Stevens:  That would be true of the assessment I saw.  I did not know whether they were lead
acid or cadmium batteries, but they were definitely wet batteries.

Mr MASTERS:  The implication is that the nickel cadmium survived the fire.  It appears from the
evidence so far that there was no lead.

Dr Daly:  I am greatly assured by that.  In the early days, most of my discussions with the
firefighters addressed their concerns, which were many times greater than was the real health risk
that we perceived at that stage.  We also discussed possible mercury intoxication.  We discussed
perchlorethylene at some length, including the question of carcinogenesis.  Because some of the
firefighters had come equipped with some reconnaissance from the Internet, we also briefly
discussed other issues that concerned them, such as dioxins and polychlorinated biphenyls, which
have been a concern in an industrial sense for a number of years.  At all times we tried to put it in
the context of their exposure.  If we look at the semantics of that word, it has a medical meaning.  I
wanted to ensure that when the firefighters talked to me about it, we used a medical term so we
could keep it in that context.  Exposure in toxicology means the opportunity to internalise a dose; it
does not mean that a person actually has a dose.  I will be blunt and give an example.  If I stand next
to a fridge that is full of beer and lean on it, I am exposed to that beer; however, it does not mean I
have drunk it and have had a dose of that beer.  Similarly, if a person stands in smoke that is
swirling around him and he breathes it into his lungs, he is exposed to it.  That does not necessarily
tell us the exact dose of what has been internalised into that person’s body.  When dealing with a
“chemical cocktail” like this, it is futile, expensive and poor medical practice to test everybody for
everything we can think of.  It is much better to be directed by people’s symptoms and take it one
step further and say, “If there were a dose, how is that dose being manifested by clinical symptoms
or disease?”

The CHAIRMAN:  Have you discussed that sort of approach with the Public Health Department?

Dr Daly:  We discussed that approach at the initial meeting with the board on the Tuesday.

The CHAIRMAN:  Is that the FESA board?

Dr Daly:  Yes.  A symptom-based approach.

Mr Forbes:  It was not a FESA board; it was the state operations board that was created, which
included representation from the Department of Health, the Department of Environmental
Protection, and the former Department of Minerals and Energy.
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Mr Truswell:  Also, WorkSafe WA had a toxicologist there and he agreed with Dr Daly’s
approach.

Dr Daly:  There are chemical toxicologists and analytical toxicologists.  Clinical toxicologists deal
with patients.  Analytical and chemical toxicologists deal more with research and analytical
standards.  This approach has been adopted in a number of other settings.  As an anecdote, the
toxicological response to the Atlanta Olympics and the possible use of medical chemical weapons
involved drawing up medical responses and clinical algorithms to treat victims based on the
chemical weapon.  It was not until they were halfway through the Olympics that they realised that
they would not know what the chemical weapon was.  When a person’s eyes are burning and he
drops dead, they would not know what the chemical weapon was.  That was exactly the experience
with the sarin incident in Tokyo.  It took them about four hours to realise that it was probably a
neurological nerve agent rather than cyanide.  They spent the first four hours treating it as cyanide,
because they had a “we think we know the chemical; let’s treat it the way we think it should be
treated” approach.  Instead, they should have looked at what symptoms the people were presenting
with, and then asked themselves what could have caused those symptoms and, therefore,
determined the appropriate management.

Mr MASTERS:  It is fairly easy to analyse for substances like mercury, cadmium and lead in
human tissue, blood and so on.  I assume that chemicals that are either undiluted or unchanged from
what was on-site or are the products of combustion would be more difficult to analyse for;
therefore, the symptomatic approach is a better one.  What can you tell us about the results of the
analyses?

Dr Daly:  We did not do systematic lead testing on everybody.

Mr MASTERS:  Did you do some?

Dr Daly:  We did some.  People were concerned.  I will check my notes, but my understanding is
that the tests were all entirely normal, but they were done on only a small number of people.

Mr Forbes:  The most common investigations were for liver function with 83 patients or 72 per
cent, and for blood lead levels with 54 patients or 47 per cent.

Mr MASTERS:  Was there no mercury or cadmium?

Dr Daly:  We did not test for mercury or cadmium levels because they are not silent toxins; in other
words, people do not take on a medically significant dose without symptoms.  We did not see those
symptoms declare themselves in the appropriate time that we would expect, which would have been
within 48 hours for those two metals, so we did not see a need to test.

Mr MASTERS:  Now, six months down the track, there seems to be a lack of evidence to indicate
that lead or mercury was consumed in the fire; therefore, there is no real justification for going back
to those firefighters or members of the public and testing for some of the compounds.

Dr Daly:  No.  You allude to an environmental question outside the firefighters, with which I have
not been involved.  However, you probably would be better guided by environmental testing.

Mr DAY:  Are you aware of any firefighters who now have ill-health effects or are likely to have in
the future?

Dr Daly:  I am not aware of anybody who now has health effects that we can objectively measure.
Some firefighters had respiratory symptoms that lasted for a week, and one or two had symptoms
that lasted a month, which could be anticipated from the type of exposure we estimated they had.
There are two types of ongoing health problems that could arise from what we believe was at the
fire, one of which is chronic respiratory symptoms.  The second is the carcinogenic question, which
is in everyone’s mind, and I understand that.  Again, from the magnitude of the exposure over
minutes to hours, we do not believe anyone could have internalised a dose that would have had
long-term effects.  The vast majority of those things thought to be or known to be carcinogens acted
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on the people’s DNA through long-term small-dose exposure rather through relatively short-term
large-dose exposures.  Even if people had jumped into a drum of perchlorethylene, which is known
to be a possible carcinogen, had got out and washed themselves down and were fine afterwards, I
would not say that that was a risk.  Conversely, a drycleaner who used the stuff without gloves for
50 years certainly might be at risk.

Mr DAY:  It has been suggested to us that firefighters who were there should be given a guarantee
of health monitoring in the long term and any assistance if they ultimately need it.  By “long term”,
people have in mind years or for the rest of their lives.  Can you comment on that?  Is that a
reasonable request or is it unnecessary?

Dr Daly:  Screening and follow-up in an occupational setting when there are possible hazards in
any industry is perfectly reasonable.  I do not think that necessarily means a guarantee of carte
blanche health care for the term of someone’s natural life.  Certainly, it is good practice and records
should be kept.  People who are concerned should be offered medicals, perhaps every five years, or
even every two years if they perceive a need.  It is reasonable that if people have concerns about
health effects, maybe their workers compensation claims should be left open for a period rather than
closed, which is a demonstration of goodwill.

Mr DAY:  Workers compensation insurance would not apply if they are volunteers.

Dr Daly:  I am unsure of the technicalities with the volunteers of the Fire and Emergency Services
Authority.

Mr Forbes:  We are continuing to monitor all paid employees.  There are less than five at this
stage - possibly only one or two - on whom I believe the final medical report has yet to be closed
off.  Only two employees lost time off work, one for 38 hours and one for approximately 60 hours.
We have not closed off the ability of any member, be he a career or volunteer firefighter, to be
tested and monitored.  We will continue to do that on an open basis.  All volunteers - whether they
are Bush Fire Service of WA volunteers covered by local government or Fire And Rescue Service
of WA volunteers - are covered under their respective insurance schemes.

Mr DAY:  If volunteers have concerns in future, would FESA be open to addressing them?

Mr Forbes:  FESA would certainly be open to addressing them and will continue to do what we did
promptly after the incident; that is, pay for testing of firefighters as a matter of reassurance, if that is
necessary, or confirmation that they are well.  A total of 115 appeared for testing, from a total of
167 who originally indicated they wanted to be tested.  Two people had time off work.  We will
continue to test people.  This is very much a hearts and minds matter and a genuine commitment to
indicate that we stand by both volunteer and career firefighters in the long term.

Mr DAY:  Dr Daly, are you satisfied with the approach that FESA has taken?

Dr Daly:  Yes, I am proud of the response; it was fantastic.

Mr DAY:  Another issue on which we need to complete discussion is the meeting, as it was put to
the committee, that was held on 27 February.  The people who spoke to us last week said they had
only four hours’ notice to attend that meeting with Mr Forbes and Dr Daly.

Dr Daly:  Yes.

Mr DAY:  They said they were railroaded and had no chance to ask questions.  They said that the
incident was downplayed, that you presented the best possible case, whereas more information
should have been provided, and that the worst possible case should also have been presented.  They
said you were well paid by FESA and that, in essence, soft or sanitised information was presented
to the meeting.  These are not our words, of course, but we would like your response to what was
put to us.

Dr Daly:  Clinical toxicologists always have trouble when they are regarded as the instruments of
big business trying to railroad things.  I cannot address the issue of notice given to the firefighters
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and I am sorry that some may not have been able to attend.  My address to them was relatively
casual, as the committee will see if it watches the video.  I tried to address all of the issues about
which we were concerned at the time, including the worst case scenario, which we were not able to
exclude at that time.  I tried to put it into context, and it is worth putting it into context now.

All smoke is potentially toxic.  The incident that was dealt with at Bellevue differed from a house
fire only by scale, not by quality.  A burning sofa can be just as deadly to someone stuck in a room
and exposed to its smoke as can, for example, burning 320 000 litres of perchlorethylene.  I tried to
reassure the firefighters that although there had not been an incident of this scale before, it must still
be regarded in the same way as any of their other exposures.  If they regarded as toxic their
exposure to smoke on that day, they should also regard as toxic - if not more so - their exposure to
bushfire smoke, house smoke and social smoke inhalation.  I can only apologise if that address
came across to some firefighters as a sanitised version.  I believe I put a personable face on it.

One firefighter asked me whether I could guarantee that he would not get cancer or that his children
would not have problems.  I was able to talk to him only about the bounds of medicine in general.  I
said to him that sometimes patients in the emergency department of the hospital where I work ask
me what their diagnosis means.  For example, I may see a 50-year-old man with chest pains who
smokes.  My job on that evening in the emergency department is to find out whether he has had a
heart attack.  I will take a history from that man, examine him carefully and do some tests on him.
Using all that evidence, I will then make a conclusion that is unlikely to be a categorical yes or no.
It is likely to be based on a balance of probabilities, with a little experience thrown into that
cocktail.  With all of that evidence I will then tell the gentleman, based on what he had told me, the
tests and the electrocardiograph and so on, that he has not had a heart attack and he is okay to go
home.  However, I will also tell him that there are no guarantees in the world of medicine and if he
gets more chest pain, or if any other problems occur, he should come back.  That is about as good as
it gets.  The best people available do the job and make a medical assessment which, hopefully, they
stand by in future.  That is exactly the way I feel about this incident.  Based on the information we
had then and all the medical data that we have now, that is the assessment we made, but there are no
guarantees.  However, FESA is prepared to stand by that assessment and will address any further
problems in future.

Mr Forbes:  I shall also add a comment.  At none of the five meetings that occurred after the fire -
one on the Thursday, two on the Friday, one on the Saturday and one on the Monday - was any
limitation placed on any person’s ability to talk with Dr Daly or me.  Indeed, the clock stopped in
FESA for about two weeks, during which time many people in other areas of FESA in the fire
service division added value to our part of the organisation by assisting in the debriefing and sitting
down on a one-on-one basis with the firefighters, in some instances for some hours.  On no
occasion did Dr Frank Daly leave the location, nor was he unavailable to any of the people for
extended periods of time.  With regard to the issue of the four-hour early warning, it was difficult
for some career firefighters to get to the location, hence five meetings.  We provided early warning
as much as we possibly could to volunteer bush fire brigade and fire rescue brigade volunteers
spread throughout a substantial amount of the State.  I must put on the record that a few people who
came to these debriefing sessions and attended and spoke at this inquiry never went anywhere near
the Bellevue fire, and have offered opinions as if they did.  No attempt was made to limit exposure
to Frank Daly, me or anyone else in the organisation, including the director of operations, who
some people sought out to talk about the methods by which the fire was tackled.

Mr Truswell:  My attendance at the fire was limited.  However, on Dr Daly’s advice at one of
those meetings, we filled out a form - a copy of which I shall hand to the committee - so that the
attendance of firefighters was on the public record and if there were any medical problems later
they could prove that they had been exposed to the fire.  For example, if in two to three years they
grew a third toe or a third leg, or something, there would be a connection back to the fire or the
chemicals in that incident.
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Mr DAY:  To clarify that, there is no time limit on people coming forward with problems if they
believe they exist, and you will deal with them?

Mr Forbes:  That is correct.  I also add that attached to the rear of the health report that is part of
our submission is a copy of that document and two circulars that were provided at the meeting.  We
have no problems with the time limit.

Mr Devine:  I also add that early on the Monday morning after the incident Executive Director
Forbes approached me with a question about our major operational issues of recovery and how we
should prioritise them.  My advice, based on long experience in fire services, was that there would
be considerable angst among our personnel related to health issues.  His immediate response was to
say that he would obtain the best advice that he could.  I witnessed Mr Forbes on more than one
occasion in discussions with Dr Daly saying that effectively without reservation no stone would be
left unturned and the fire must be investigated at all times to its fullest.

Mr MASTERS:  I want to change the subject while Dr Daly is here.  We received a submission
from a community group about the issue of a cocktail of chemicals being both mixed together
during the fire and then becoming combustible products.  The group talked about the synergy
between chemicals and the way in which they interact in the human body; one in isolation has one
impact but two or three together have a far more profound and severe impact.  It used the term
“negligible concentration” - or NC - and said that whatever the medical authorities say is the
desirable upper limit for a different compound, that combination with something else is divided by
100.  Therefore, one per cent of that figure is considered to be the allowable upper limit in human
tissue.  What is your reaction to that science?

Dr Daly:  Part of that science is also a term called multiple clinical sensitivity.  A branch of that
deals with patients becoming sensitive to minuscule concentrations of the compounds of chemicals
that we deal with in our daily lives leading to multiple, systemic all-over symptoms.  There are a
number of theories about that but there is no evidence of it so far in objective clinical medicine.
Multiple chemical sensitivity, as a disease, is almost unique in that it is a disease with multiple
symptoms that cannot be measured.  There is no objective clinical sign that can be palpated or
listened to and there is no test for making that diagnosis.  I can address the question of negligible
concentrations and synergy by referring only to the overseas experience with epidemiological
studies of firefighters where there have been many large studies of firefighters.  The most common
problems that they have are trauma - they fall off things and burn - and problems with their lifestyle
in that they are risk-takers who smoke and drink.  However, there has not been an increased rate of
cancer in firefighters.  These studies have occurred in a number of different settings with hundreds
of thousands of participants.  As I said before, 100 000 firefighters in the United States are injured
every year.  There is a lot of surveillance of those injuries.  I cannot address with science the
negligible, zero or small concentration or synergy effect but there is no evidence of it.  It is not
within the realms of biochemical science at the moment to assess the small exposure of the effect
we are talking about.  I am not talking from an individual’s point of view of the volumes because it
was obviously a very large fire.  However, from an individual’s perspective we saw relatively small
exposures.  The worst case scenario is that if there had been cyanide or mercury at that fire, people
would have died in the plume.  We did not see that; in fact, nobody fell over.  I can address that
question by saying that it is not the experience of epidemiological studies in the past 30 years.

Mr MASTERS:  My last question refers to the FESA staff.  At the committee meeting on Friday I
directed some of my questions to the FESA members who were present at that meeting about the
fact that Mr Antunovich and Mr Brooks were among the first of the firefighting staff to attend the
fire.  I was, and still am, curious about why their prior knowledge - the fact that there was a Hazmat
sign on the gate and that the red canister should have but did not include an inventory - did not alert
the firefighters in the first few hours of the incident to treat the fire in a different way to the way in
which they did, particularly having both career and volunteer firefighters downwind of the plume?
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I am still curious about why that trigger did not occur in people’s minds.  May I suggest to Mr
Forbes that maybe that needs to be looked at.  I think it has been addressed in the report.  The
evidence shows that the worst fears of people were that toxic and hazardous materials were
consumed in the fire.  My view is that it was not the case.  Based on the evidence from Dr Daly, I
am pretty sure that the consequences of what happed would be relatively benign.  I said that as more
of a statement.  Which government agency determines that a site is a Hazmat site?

Dr Truswell:  The Department of Minerals and Energy through its dangerous goods branch.

Mr MASTERS:  When we asked its officers, they said that he did not know.

Dr Truswell:  Basically they license the sites.  Under their licensing provisions in the regulations,
they determine what signage goes up on the gate in front of the premises, which would designate it
a Hazmat site.

Mr MASTERS:  I am not sure that is within your range of expertise.

The CHAIRMAN:  If they do not know, they do not know.

Mr MASTERS:  The reason I am asking is that I would have thought that a Hazmat sign on a gate
would be a very strong signal to firefighters to stop and think very carefully about what they were
going to do before going onto that site to fight a fire.

Mr Cribb:  There are a few triggers.  Obviously the first 000 calls we got were to a tree fire and
then perhaps a factory fire, and we mobilised for a fire.  The crew turned out from the station.  The
first responding crew saw the glow of the fire on the horizon.  Under the requirements of the
dangerous goods sites placarding arrangements, which have a Hazchem component, placards are
required on every gate or fence near a gate.  In the case of the Waste Control fire there was only one
placard, which was on the gate.  My view and the view of District Officer Wigg from being there
was that when the firefighters arrived at the scene the backdrop was a huge conflagration of
exploding drums and back light.  They were in a darkened street and the back light was this fire.  In
the photo that was submitted to the committee, you will see that people are standing at the gate.  All
they are doing is looking at the fire.  That has taken away the trigger to activate some SOPs.  That is
the view of the operational analysis group.

Mr MASTERS:  To trigger some SOPs?

Mr Cribb:  To look at Hazchem implications for it.  What happened was that they then got into
combating the fire.  It also needs to be quite clear to the committee that in the back streets - we are
talking about Oliver and Irwin Streets here - the crews that responded had what are known as
exposure fires.  They had exploding drums, and drums and shrapnel were coming down around
them.  They had multiple fires.  The first hour was catch-up.  There was very little composure on
the fire ground.  People were trying to combat the fire, to look at the environmental issues, run-off,
and both human and physical resourcing.  They were certainly on the back foot for that time.

Mr MASTERS:  I fully appreciate the urgency of dealing with the situation when the crews first
arrived, which would have distracted people from the issues.

Mr Truswell:  You must also take cognisance of the fact that we did not lose any other property.
The crews that responded should be praised for their efforts in the firefighting that they did.  Most
other people would have backed out and left it, but the blokes, to their credit, put their backs to the
wall, put their lives in danger and protected people’s livelihoods and residences.

Mr DAY:  You are saying that a lot of other property could have been lost if there was not an
effective response.

Mr Truswell:  Yes.  In my opinion, the firefighters would have been quite justified in letting go any
property south on Bulbey Street and north on Irwin Street, the batching plant and the house where
the other chemicals were, such as mercury and all that sort of stuff.  There would have been a worse
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situation.  If they had pulled back and just tended the houses on the north side of Bulbey Street, no-
one could have criticised them.

The CHAIRMAN:  Were those actions consistent with the fire management plan in the canister,
which did not get pulled out?

Mr Stevens:  Obviously the first responding crew at Midland was well conversant with the site.
They had detailed knowledge of where the hazards were on the premises.  Their firefighting actions
were to isolate those known hazards.  Given that they had a stack of drums that were well involved
in fire, the appropriate action was to put in suppression strategies that limited the impact of those
known hazards.  The first building blocks of eliminating those hazards stopped an escalation of
something that could have been bigger, if we can consider something bigger than Bellevue.

Mr DAY:  Dr Daly, are you satisfied that the medical and other staff at Swan District Hospital and
the GPs in the area were adequately informed about what to look for with firefighters?  It was put to
us that they were not adequately informed.

Dr Daly:  There was not a systematic approach to that information dispersal.  The public hospital
system in the metropolitan area has a referral path.  The doctors of Swan District Hospital used that.
They spoke to their boss who in turn spoke to me.  That was perfectly adequate and appropriate.  I
was not involved with the information that was dispersed to GPs.  It was put out by the Department
of Health.  In retrospect, it may have overstated the dangers a little bit.  Given that those health
warnings were put out to GPs during the period of time when we did not know accurately what was
going on, they were probably as accurate as could be expected.  At least they were conservative.

Mr Truswell:  It was not until Monday morning that I received some results from the DEP from
sampling the run-off water.  Our chemist talked to Dr Daly on Monday morning.  Once we told him
that there was perchlorethylene in those samples, the antennas went up and it looked as if we had a
serious problem with the contamination of the firefighters.

The CHAIRMAN:  Mr Forbes, is there something you want to say in summary or picking up the
thread that has meandered through the whole submission?

Mr Forbes:  I do appreciate the opportunity.  This was an inferno and a significant event, as I said
at the outset, as is obvious to the committee.  Given the method by which our career personnel and
volunteers professionally fought it, and the way people handled it from those in the communications
centre to those on the ground inside a mobile control unit, and given the unfolding nature of the
circumstances, it was handled in the very best way it could have been handled at the time.  In
addition, accepting the fact that people will always have concerns about their health when there is a
significant event such as this with toxic waste chemicals being stored and the fire unfolding, we
believe that it was responsible to act professionally and in the fashion in which we did initially in
the first few weeks and subsequently.  We are reassured as a consequence of nothing of any short or
long-term nature being in our zone of awareness with regard to the health of anybody who attended
that Bellevue fire, that our call in the first few weeks as the situation unfolded in front of us was the
right and responsible call.  The organisation to which all of us belong, other than Frank Daly, is a
responsible organisation that stands by its people, whether they be career or volunteer firefighters.
It has supported local government bush fire brigade volunteers during this entire process and will
continue to do so.

Mr DAY:  I am not sure whether it is intended that the FESA people should come back.  We were
hoping to get through everything.  I think we have got through most things.

The CHAIRMAN:  There may be some matters we need to follow up, whether by way of a note or
having the FESA people come back.

Mr DAY:  If it is not a definite arrangement, there is one other matter to which the witnesses should
respond, so that it is on the record given its coverage last week.  It was claimed in one of the
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submissions, as you will be aware from the oral presentations to us, that FESA attempted active
deception to reduce future potential liability.

Mr Forbes:  There has been no deception on any aspect of the Bellevue fire by anybody within or
connected to the Fire and Emergency Services Authority.  It is not in our modus operandi.  I cannot
imagine a responsible service that deals with life-threatening circumstances and puts people in
harm’s way that would have such an attitude that there would need to be some deception.  I want to
give the Director of Operations the opportunity to comment on the things he has implemented,
starting from within hours and extending right through to today, for our post Bellevue operational
improvement process.

Mr Devine:  I take the opportunity to comment on this because I take significant umbrage at any
anybody who wishes to infer that we have done anything but be totally transparent in everything we
have done.  The industry that we are involved in, whether we are career or volunteer firefighters, is
a dangerous one.  The very nature of what we do is dangerous.  Unlike all other workplaces whose
practices completely avoid danger, we confront it.  We cannot avoid that because it is what we do.
Without taking a great deal of your time, I would refer you to the document.  I believe on the night
that people did with the best of intentions the very best that they could.  From the document’s
recommendations and statements, it is clear that there are things that we could do better.  It is very
clear that the document will be a blueprint for the way in which we change and move the
organisation forward as an operational entity in the future.  Nobody could infer after reading that
document that we have been anything less than transparent.  For anybody who wishes to hold that
point of view, I challenge them to read the document.  I do not direct that at this panel.  Such people
should read the document and be aware of what it says and what the weight of those
recommendations really means for us.  I believe we will be working hard for some considerable
time to ensure that they are implemented.

Mr DAY:  The document has been widely distributed, has it?

Mr Devine:  Certainly, and it is available as a public document.  It certainly holds the flame to us to
ensure that we do implement the recommendations.  I certainly would not want to be the Director of
Operations in a couple of years when I have a similar event and I am experiencing the same
problems.

The CHAIRMAN:  We do not want to be here in a couple of years asking the same questions.

Mr Devine:  There were things that in hindsight we would have approached somewhat differently.
That is not to say that there were not the best intentions on the night.

The CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.

Proceedings suspended from 1.13 to 1.56 pm


